IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CASE NO. 81379

Electronically Filed Feb 02 2021 07:11 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

ROCHELLE MEZZANO,

Appellant,

VS.

JOHN TOWNLEY,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT CASE NO. DV19-01564

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

F. Peter James, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 10091
Law Offices of F. Peter James, Esq.
3821 West Charleston Blvd., Suite 250
Las Vegas, Nevada 89102
702-256-0087
Counsel for Appellant

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

Jurisdictional Statementvii
Statement of the Issuesviii
Statement of the Case
Statement of the Facts
Summary of the Argument3
Argument4
Conclusion12
Routing Statement
Certificate of Compliance (Rule 28.2)15
Certificate of Compliance (Rule 32)16

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

2	CASES
3	Bahena v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co.,
4	126 Nev. 606, 245 P.3d 1182 (2010)
5	Baumann v. Nev. Colony Corp.,
6	44 Nev. 10, 189 P. 245 (1920)
7	Cicerchia v. Cicerchia,
8	77 Nev. 158, 360 P.2d 839 (1961)
9	C.H.A Venture v. G.C. Wallace Consulting Engineers, Inc.,
10	106 Nev. 381, 794 P.2d 707 (1990)
11	Deal v. Baines,
12	110 Nev. 509, 874 P.2d 775 (1994)
13	Epstein v. Epstein,
14	113 Nev. 1401, 950 P.2d 771 (1997)
15	Ex parte Gardner,
16	22 Nev. 280, 39 P. 570 (1895)
17	Executive Management, Ltd. v. Ticor Title Ins. Co.,
18	118 Nev. 46, 38 P.3d 872 (2002)
19	Foster v. Lewis,
20	78 Nev. 330, 372 P.2d 679 (1962)

1	Gold Kist, Inc. v. Laurinburg Oil Co., Inc.,
2	756 F.2d 14, (3rd Cir. 1985)
3	Hotel Last Frontier v. Frontier Prop.,
4	79 Nev. 150, 380 P.2d 293 (1963)
5	In Re Van Meter,
6	175 B.R. 64 (9th Cir. 1994)
7	Insituform Technologies, Inc. v. AMerik Supplies, Inc.,
8	588 F.Supp.2d 1349 (N.D. Georgia 2008)
9	Hay & Forage Industries v. New Holland North America, Inc.,
10	60 F.Supp.2d 1099 (D. Kansas 1998)
11	Jackson v. Groenendyke,
12	132 Nev. 296, 369 P.3d 362 (2016)
13	Johnson v. Harper,
14	66 F.R.D. 103 (E.D. Tenn 1975)
15	Judd v. F.C.C.,
16	276 F.R.D. 1 (D.C. 2011)
17	Mann v. Castiel,
18	681 F.3d 368 (D.C. Cir. 2012)
19	Marcuse v. Del Webb Communities, Inc.,
20	123 Nev. 278, 163 P.3d 462 (2007)

1	Peralta v. Heights Medical Center, Inc.,
2	485 U.S. 80, 108 S.Ct. 896 (1988)
3	Price v. Dunn,
4	106 Nev. 100, 787 P.2d 785 (1990)
5	Quinlan v. Camden USA, Inc.,
6	126 Nev. 311, 236 P.3d 613 (2010)
7	Savin Corp. v. C.M.C. Corp.,
8	98 F.R.D. 509 (N.D. Ohio 1983)
9	S.E.C v. Internet Sols. for Bus. Inc.,
10	509 F.3d 1161 (9th Cir. 2007)
11	Singer Co. v. Greever and Wlash Wholesale Textile, Inc.,
12	82 F.R.D. 1 (E.D. Tenn. 1977)
13	Thorne v. Com. of Pa.,
14	77 F.R.D. 396 (E.D. Penn. 1977)
15	RULES
16	NRCP 4 6
17	NRCP 4.2 5, 6, 9
18	NRCP 55
19	NRCP 60(b)
20	

1	TREATISES
2	4A C. Wright & A. Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure
3	§ 1083 (3d. ed. 2002 & Supp. 2012)
4	
5	
6	
7	
8	
9	
10	
11	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
18	
19	
20	

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Nevada Supreme Cour	rt has jurisdi	ction over this	matter pursuant to
NRAP 3A(b)(8), and NRS 2.090.			

The Order appealed from was filed by the district court on May 22, 2020. (A.A. at 174). Said Order was noticed by e-service on May 26, 2020. (A.A. at 179). The Notice of Appeal was filed on June 12, 2020. (J.A. at 187).

The jurisdictional deadline to file the Notice of Appeal was June 12, 2020 at the earliest. Given the Notice of Entry of Order being on May 26, 2020, the deadline was likely June 25, 2020. As the Notice of Appeal was filed on the earliest possible deadline, the same was timely filed.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Husband obtained a default Decree of Divorce. Wife was never properly
served. Wife timely requested the district court to set aside the default Decree of
Divorce; however, the district court denied that request even though it is crystal
clear that service of process (which is jurisdictional) was patently improper.

Did the district court err in denying the request to set aside the default Decree of Divorce given the improper service of process?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the denial of a Motion to Set Aside a default Decree of Divorce. Second Judicial District Court, Washoe County; Hon. Bridget E. Robb, District Judge, Family Division.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant / Defendant, Rochelle Mezzano (hereinafter "Wife"), and Respondent / Plaintiff, John Townley (hereinafter "Husband"), were married on or about September 12, 1999 in Reno, Nevada.¹ (AA 124).

On September 24, 2019, Husband filed a Complaint for Divorce. (AA 1). There were several recusals of judges and a peremptory challenge. (AA 6, 9, 13). Finally, Judge Robb accepted the case. (AA 24).

On October 4, 2019, a process server went to Wife's residence to serve the Complaint, Summons, and other documents.² (AA 31). When the process server arrived, an older white male came out. (*Id.*). The man was a hired hand to do work on the house and he did not know if Wife was at the house. (*Id.*). The

Husband asserts that the parties were married sometime in 2000, though he does not recall when. (AA 2).

All of the facts as to what happened with service of process are from the affidavit of the process server Husband hired, not from Wife. (AA 31). There are no further affidavits / testimony as to the service of process. (*See generally* AA).

2 th
3 sc
4 w
5 w

1

67

8

10

1112

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20 | / / /

///

worker yelled out that a young lady was here to see her. (*Id.*). Wife responded that she was not taking visitors. (*Id.*). The worker yelled out that the lady had something to give her. (*Id.*). The process server admits that she did not what she was to give Wife and that she did not say who she was. (*Id.*). Wife's response was that she did not want it. (*Id.*). Wife never came to the door. (*Id.*). The worker verified that Wife lived there. (*Id.*). The process server posted the "serve" on the front door and then left. (*Id.*). Wife was never personally served. (*See generally* AA 31). No one of suitable age and discretion who resided at the residence ever accepted service of process / was ever served. (*Id.*).

Husband obtained a Default against Wife. (AA 39). Husband applied for a default judgment. (AA 41, 45-61). The district court held a prove up hearing on December 11, 2019. (AA 97-105). Following the hearing, the district court signed the Decree of Divorce provided by Husband. (AA 83-96).

Wife retained counsel and filed a Motion to Set Aside the default Decree of Divorce. (AA 123-140). The main argument was invalid service of process. (*Id.*). Husband opposed the Motion. (AA 142-171). The district court denied the request to set aside the default Decree of Divorce. (AA 174-178).

This appeal followed. (AA 187).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Court should reverse the district court, grant the Motion to Set Aside, set aside the default Decree and the Default, and remand the matter to the district court for a trial on the merits.

There was no proper service of process of the Summons and Complaint.

The process server merely left the documents on the door—and did not serve

Wife, who never even approached the door. The process server at best served a

handyman working at the residence. Improper service is no service.

Service of process is jurisdictional. Without jurisdiction, a court may not take action against the defendant.

The rules for setting aside a default judgment should be liberally applied.

Nevada has a strong policy of adjudicating matters on the merits. A default may be set aside for good cause. A default judgment may be set aside if it is void.

Want of service of process renders a default judgment void.

A motion to set aside a void judgment may be filed outside of the six-month limitations period. As such, there is no merit to a claim that a motion to set aside a void judgment is untimely if it is filed just over the six-month limitations period. The district court here said two to four months to file was untimely, though Nevada law says six months is perfectly fine and that there is no merit to claims to the contrary.

2

3

4

5

6

7

9

11

10

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

As such, the district court abused its discretion in failing to grant the Motion to Set Aside.

ARGUMENT

The district court erred in declining to set aside the Default and the default Decree of Divorce when there was a patent lack of proper service of process. The Court should reverse the district court, grant the Motion to Set Aside, set aside the Default and the default Decree of Divorce, and remand the matter for a trial on the merits.

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED DECLINING TO SET ASIDE THE DEFAULT AND THE DEFAULT DECREE OF DIVORCE, EVEN THOUGH THERE WAS PATENT IMPROPER SERVICE OF PROCESS

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A denial of a motion to set aside is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. See Cicerchia v. Cicerchia, 77 Nev. 158, 161, 360 P.2d 839, 841 (1961). Questions of law, however, are reviewed de novo. See Jackson v. Groenendyke, 132 Nev. 296, 300, 369 P.3d 362, 365 (2016).

B. ARGUMENT

The district court abused its discretion in declining to grant the Motion to Set Aside the Default and the default Decree of Divorce. Further, the district court erred in refusing to acknowledge clear, unambiguous Nevada law as to

improper service equating to no service. The default Decree of Divorce is void due to want of service of process.

"A judgment that is entered prior to the time when the defendant is validly served with process is void, unless the defendant has entered his appearance." *Thorne v. Com. of Pa.*, 77 F.R.D. 396, 398 (E.D. Penn. 1977).³ "A default judgment entered when there has been no proper service of the complaint is, *a fortiori*, void, and should be set aside." *Gold Kist, Inc. v. Laurinburg Oil Co., Inc.*, 756 F.2d 14, 19 (3rd Cir. 1985). Improper service of process (even if the person to be served actually receives the document served) is ineffectual and is not service of process; thus, the document served improperly is deemed not served at all. *See Quinlan v. Camden USA, Inc.*, 126 Nev. 311, 236 P.3d 613 (2010) (citing many federal rules and cases).

NRCP 4.2 provides that serving an individual must be made as follows:

(a) Serving an Individual. Unless otherwise provided by these rules, service may be made on an individual:

[&]quot;Federal cases interpreting the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure are <u>strong</u> <u>persuasive authority</u>, because the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure are based in large part upon their federal counterparts." *Executive Management, Ltd. v. Ticor Title Ins. Co.*, 118 Nev. 46, 53, 38 P.3d 872, 876 (2002) (internal quotations and citation omitted) (emphasis added). Nevada law controls, but Nevada looks at federal jurisprudence for guidance—but only when needed. *See Bahena v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co.*, 126 Nev. 606, 610, 245 P.3d 1182, 1185 (2010).

- (1) by delivering a copy of the summons and complaint to the individual personally;
- (2) by leaving a copy of the summons and complaint at the individual's dwelling or usual place of abode with a person of suitable age and discretion who currently resides therein and is not an adverse party to the individual being served; or
- (3) by delivering a copy of the summons and complaint to an agent authorized by appointment or by law to receive service of process.

So, if a defendant is not personally served, substitute service may be made upon a "person of suitable age and discretion who currently resides therein". NRCP 4.2(a)(2) (emphasis added). "Where the evidence that the person served was not authorized by the defendant to receive service of process is uncontradicted, as in this case, such denial of authority must be taken by the court as true, for the purpose of applying NRCP 4(d)(6)." Foster v. Lewis, 78 Nev. 330, 333, 372 P.2d 679, 680 (1962) (citations omitted). "In the absence of actual specific appointment or authorization, and in the absence of a statute conferring authority, an agency to accept service of process will not be implied." Id., 78 Nev. at 333, 372 P.2d at 680 (citation omitted) (emphasis added). With no valid personal service of summons, the judgment can be sustained only if there has been proper substituted service. Id., 78 Nev. at 333, 78 P.2d at 681. The "plaintiff has the

The then-existing NRCP 4(d)(6) is the present NRCP 4.2(a).

1 | 2 | 3 |

burden of proof to demonstrate that the procedure employed to deliver the papers satisfies the requirements of the relevant portions of Rule 4." *See Mann v. Castiel*, 681 F.3d 368, 372 (D.C. Cir. 2012) (internal quotations omitted), citing 4A C. WRIGHT & A. MILLER, FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE § 1083 (3d. ed. 2002 & Supp. 2012).

A default may be set aside for good cause. *See* NRCP 55(c). When there is lack of proper service, the entry of a default is void and must be set aside. *See Insituform Technologies, Inc. v. AMerik Supplies, Inc.*, 588 F.Supp.2d 1349, 1352 (N.D. Georgia 2008); *see also In Re Van Meter*, 175 B.R. 64 (9th Cir. 1994) (with no proper service, a default judgment should be set aside as void; defendant had no obligation to respond to an unserved complaint).

Factors to consider in determining if "good cause" exists to set aside a default are: whether the default was result of culpable conduct of the plaintiff, prejudice to the plaintiff, and if there is a meritorious defense. *See Savin Corp.* v. C.M.C. Corp., 98 F.R.D. 509 (N.D. Ohio 1983). However, the United States Supreme Court has declared that requiring a meritorious defense in a set aside matter is a violation of due process of law under the 14th Amendment to the United States Constitution. *See Peralta v. Heights Medical Center, Inc.*, 485 U.S. 80, 108 S.Ct. 896 (1988). This case was adopted by Nevada twice. *See Price v. Dunn*, 106 Nev. 100, 104, 787 P.2d 785, 788 (1990); *see also Epstein v. Epstein*,

113 Nev. 1401, 1405, 950 P.2d 771, 773 (1997).

Setting aside a default judgment is a more stringent standard than setting aside a default. *Compare* NRCP 60(b) (stringent standard) *with* NRCP 55(c) (mere good cause). Couple that with requiring a meritorious defense to be a violation of due process of law, then, *a fortiori*, it is a violation of due process of law to require a meritorious defense to set aside a default. It is axiomatic that satisfying a higher standard automatically meets lesser standards. *See e.g. Hay* & *Forage Industries v. New Holland North America, Inc.*, 60 F.Supp.2d 1099, 1119 (D. Kansas 1998).

A defendant's obligation to respond to a complaint arises only upon service of the summons and complaint. *See Judd v. F.C.C.*, 276 F.R.D. 1, 5 (D.C. 2011). Nevada only has jurisdiction of a party when there is personal service or a legally-provided substitute—notice is not a substitute for service of process. *See C.H.A Venture v. G.C. Wallace Consulting Engineers, Inc.*, 106 Nev. 381, 384, 794 P.2d 707, 709 (1990).

Nevada has a strong policy of adjudication of cases on the merits. *See e.g. Hotel Last Frontier v. Frontier Prop.*, 79 Nev. 150, 155, 380 P.2d 293, 295 (1963); *see also Marcuse v. Del Webb Communities, Inc.*, 123 Nev. 278, 286, 163 P.3d 462, 468 (2007). Motions to set aside defaults are considered liberally with any doubt being resolved in favor of setting aside. *See Baumann v. Nev.*

Co
 Gr
 see
 au
 ap

Colony Corp., 44 Nev. 10, 12, 189 P. 245, 247 (1920); see also Singer Co. v. Greever and Wlash Wholesale Textile, Inc., 82 F.R.D. 1, 2 (E.D. Tenn. 1977); see also Johnson v. Harper, 66 F.R.D. 103 (E.D. Tenn 1975). The rule authorizing a court to set aside a default judgment should be "very liberally applied" in a divorce proceeding. See Cicerchia, 77 Nev. at 161, 360 P.2d at 841 citing Blundin v. Blundin, 38 Nev. 212, 147 P. 1083, 1084 (1915).

Here, there was no valid service of process as the process server at best served a handyman working at the residence and posted the papers on the door. (AA 31). Under Nevada law, this is not proper service of process. *See* NRCP 4.2. As stated, service of process is jurisdictional. *See C.H.A Venture*, 106 Nev. at 384, 794 P.2d at 709. Without proper service, the district court had no jurisdiction to enter any orders or to take any action against Wife. *See e.g. Ex parte Gardner*, 22 Nev. 280, 39 P. 570 (1895).

Oddly, the district court found the process server's affidavit the most credible evidence provided. (AA 177). Wife relied on the process server's affidavit in her motion to evidence that there was no proper service of process. (AA 124). The district court opined that a signed return of service of process constitutes prima facie evidence of valid service that may only be overcome by strong and convincing evidence. (AA 177) (citing *S.E.C v. Internet Sols. for Bus. Inc.*, 509 F.3d 1161, 1166 (9th Cir. 2007)). This position begs the question as the

S.E.C. case, the defendant was personally served, which the affidavit of service confirmed. 509 F. 3d at 1164. As stated and in the present case, the affidavit of service in the present matter itself evidences *improper* service, not proper service. (AA 31). Still, the district court improperly relied on the *S.E.C.* case.

affidavit itself evidences patently improper service of process. Moreover, in the

The district court also erred in relying on the *S.E.C.* case for another position—notice of the proceedings. The district court opined that the defendant who chooses not to put the plaintiff to its proof, but instead allows default judgment to be entered and waits until later to challenge the action, should have to bear the consequences of such delay. (AA 177 n.1).

Clear Nevada law (which is controlling) is quite the opposite from this non-controlling federal case. Nevada law controls, not federal—which is used for guidance when needed. *See Bahena*, 126 Nev. at 610, 245 P.3d at 1185. Nevada law provides that improper service is no service at all—a bright-line rule. *See Quinlan*, 126 Nev. at 311, 236 P.3d at 613. Wife cited to this case in her motion. (AA 126). Oddly, the district court failed to address or even include any reference to this controlling Nevada case, *Quinlan*. (*See generally* AA 174-178).

The district court stated that part of its decision was based on Wife's purported delay in filing to set aside the decree. (AA 177-78). The limitations period for filing to set aside a final judgment based in it being void is two years

from notice. *See Deal v. Baines*, 110 Nev. 509, 512, 874 P.2d 775, 778 (1994). The district court found that two months passed after Wife's counsel contacted Husband's counsel for the motion to be filed—and that this was not prompt enough.⁵ (AA 178).

If the time before filing is four months and the limitations period is two years, then this is akin to filing after two months on a one-year limitations period and the also akin to filing one month into a six-month limitations period. This is hardly a delay worth denying a request to set aside a void decree of divorce. Nevada law provides that filing a motion to set aside based on the default judgment being void just over six months after entry of the default judgment was timely—and that any argument against it is meritless. See Foster, 78 Nev. at 337, 372 P.2d at 683 (a motion to set aside a void judgment is not restricted to the sixmonth limitations period in NRCP 60(b); thus, a motion to set aside a void judgment filed just over six months after the entry of the judgment was timely there is no merit that the motion was untimely). As such, the Motion to Set Aside was timely filed, and the district court abused its discretion in stating that between two and four months was too long to file.

18

19

20

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

Wife asserts that this is the point of constructive knowledge of the entry of the Decree. The Motion to Set Aside was filed approximately four months after the decree was entered. (*Compare* AA at 83 *with* AA at 123).

1

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20 ///

///

The district court abused its discretion in denying the Motion to Set Aside. As there was no proper service of process, the district court was without jurisdiction to enter any orders and to take any action in this matter.

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