IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CASE NO. 81379

Electronically Filed Mar 18 2021 01:15 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

ROCHELLE MEZZANO,

Appellant,

VS.

JOHN TOWNLEY,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT CASE NO.

DV19-01564

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Alexander C. Morey NVBN 11216 Silverman Kattelman Springgate, Chtd. 500 Damonte Ranch Pkwy., Ste. 675 Reno, NV 89521 Phone: 775-322-3223

Fax: 775-322-3649

Counsel for Respondent

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

2	The undersigned counsel for record certifies that the following are
3	persons and entities as described in NRAP 26.1(a) and must be disclosed

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

First, Ms. Mezzano presented no argument below establishing she timely filed her Motion to Set Aside Decree of Divorce. Her motion brought under NRCP 60(b)(4) had to be filed within a reasonable time, which Mr. Townley pointed out in his opposition. Ms. Mezzano did not file a response to the argument, and the trial court determined she did not timely pursue relief. Her failure to make the argument below is a waiver of her right to raise the issue on appeal. Because a motion under NRCP 60(b)(4) must be brought within a reasonable time, and the trial court's decision is final, Ms. Mezzano's waiver is dispositive.

Second, the trial court appropriately denied Ms. Mezzano's motion to set aside the decree because Ms. Mezzano was served and did not move for relief within a reasonable time or was estopped from claiming she was not served. Ms. Mezzano was personally served with the summons and complaint because Ms. Mezzano was on notice litigation was proceeding, the service of process was

² These facts concerning delivery of money and property to Ms. Mezzano pursuant to the decree of divorce arose after the trial court denied Ms. Mezzano's motion to set aside. These facts are included here and substantiated by documents in the Respondent's Appendix because they demonstrate Ms. Mezzano's acceptance of benefits under the decree she challenges, which effects a waiver of her ability to challenge the decree on appeal.

reasonably calculated to give Ms. Mezzano actual notice of the proceedings,
Ms. Mezzano received the summons and complaint and actual notice of the
proceedings, and Ms. Mezzano admitted she was served. Ms. Mezzano did not
move for relief under NRCP 60(b)(4) within a reasonable time or was estopped
from denying service of process by her failure to advise Mr. Townley or the trial
court of her claim there was a defect in service, by permitting the matter to proceed
to default judgment, and—despite possession of all the facts involved in her NRCP
60(b)(4) motion during the proceedings—waiting nearly three months after her
counsel first appeared to file her motion.

Third, Ms. Mezzano may not proceed with this appeal as she has accepted the benefits of the decree of divorce by, inter alia, requesting delivery of property set over to her and receiving the property.

ARGUMENT

BECAUSE MS. MEZZANO DID NOT RAISE ANY ARGUMENT IN DEFENSE OF MR. TOWNLEY'S ASSERTION SHE DID NOT BRING HER NRCP 60(B) MOTION WITHIN A REASONABLE TIME, SHE MAY NOT CHALLENGE THE TRIAL COURT'S DETERMINATION HER FAILURE TO MAKE A PROMPT APPLICATION WAS SUFFICIENT GROUNDS TO DENY HER MOTION.

Points not raised in the trial court may not be raised for the first time on appeal. *Old Aztec Mine v. Brown*, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981). Here, Mr. Townley asserted Ms. Mezzano's NRCP 60(b) motion was untimely under

1	Union Petrochemical Corp. v. Scott, 96 Nev. 337, 609 P.2d 323 (1980), and In re:
2	Harrison Living Trust, 121 Nev. 217, 112 P.3d 1058 (2005), in his Opposition to
3	Motion to Set Aside. (AA 144.) Ms. Mezzano did not file a reply to Mr. Townley's
4	Opposition and presented no evidence or argument establishing she brought her
5	NRCP 60(b) motion within a reasonable time. (See, generally, AA 176.) Now, for
6	the first time, she argues her motion was made within a reasonable time.
7	Ms. Mezzano's failure to raise this point in the trial court is a waiver of her
8	arguments on appeal. Ms. Mezzano is precluded from challenging the trial court's
9	conclusion that her NRCP 60(b) motion "can also be denied for her failure to make
10	a prompt application to set aside the default judgment." (AA 178.)
11	This point is dispositive. This Court need not analyze any of Ms. Mezzano's
12	claims as she cannot challenge the trial court's decision her NRCP 60(b) motion
13	was untimely, which is "ground enough for denial." Union Petrochemical Corp. v.
14	Scott, 96 Nev. 337, 339, 609 P.2d 323, 324 (1980).
15	
16	EVEN IF THIS COURT PROCEEDS WITH AN ANALYSIS OF THE OTHER ISSUES, THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION MUST BE UPHELD
17	AS MS. MEZZANO WAS SERVED AND, IN ANY EVENT, SHE UNREASONABLY AND WITHOUT EXPLANATION DELAYED TAKING
18	ANY ACTION TO ADVISE THE COURT OF HER CLAIM OF DEFICIENT SERVICE AND UNREASONABLY AND WITHOUT
19	EXPLANATION DELAYED FILING HER MOTION TO SET ASIDE THE DEFAULT DECREE OF DIVORCE.

The district court has wide discretion in deciding whether to grant or deny a motion to set aside a judgment under NRCP 60(b). Its determination will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. *Union Petrochemical Corp. v. Scott*, 96 Nev. 337, 338, 609 P.2d 323 (1980).

B. Ms. Mezzano was Personally Served.

NRCP 4.2(a)(1) permits service of process by delivering a copy of the summons and complaint to the defendant "personally". Personal service does not require a face-to-face meeting or an attempt to force papers onto a defendant. *Currie v. Wood*, 112 F.R.D. 408, 409 (E.D.N.C. 1986) (citing cases). The purpose of process is to provide actual notice to the addressee of the action filed against them and an opportunity to respond. "It has long been recognized, as a principle of law, that the purpose of process is to give the party to whom it is addressed actual notice of the proceedings against him, and that he is answerable to the claim of the plaintiff. It is this notice which gives the Court jurisdiction to proceed." *Scott v. G.A.C. Fin. Corp.*, 486 P.2d 786, 787 (Ariz. 1971). The rules governing service of process are used to provide a likelihood of bringing actual notice to the

³ That the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure permit alternative forms of service including delivery by "including certified mail, telephone, voice message, email, social media, or any other method of communication" evidences the true purpose of service being to provide notice and not to rigidly conform to the dusty tradition of intoning "you have been served". *See* NRCP 4.4(d).

addressee. *Minn. Mining & Mfg. Co. v. Kirkevold*, 87 F.R.D. 317, 323 (D. Minn. 1980). Where a defendant has received actual notice, the service rules should be liberally construed to uphold service. *Id.* Further, substantial compliance with personal service requirements coupled with actual notice to the defendant is sufficient. *See Brockbank v. Second Judicial Dist. Court*, 65 Nev. 781, 201 P.2d 299 (1948) (discussing the corollary that rules for substitute service of process must be strictly followed); *see also, e.g., Wagner v. Truesdell*, 1998 S.D. 9, ¶ 9, 574 N.W.2d 627, 629; *In re Coleman*, 793 N.W.2d 296, 302 (Minn. 2011). That strict compliance applies only to substitute service is found in case law dating to 1869. *See, e.g., Little v. Currie*, 5 Nev. 90, 92 (1869) ("Statutory provisions for acquiring jurisdiction *by any other than personal service* must be strictly pursued.") (Emphasis Added.)

Here, Ms. Mezzano received actual notice; therefore, the service rules must be liberally construed in favor of finding sufficient service. In this case, Ms. Mezzano was on notice Mr. Townley was proceeding with a divorce when the process server arrived at her home. (AA 152-153.) She was present at her home and responded to a verbal inquiry. (Id.) She was told the process server needed to give her something. (Id.) She refused to come to the door. (Id.) The process server posted the documents on the door. (Id.) Ms. Mezzano took actual possession of the documents that same day, and Ms. Mezzano emailed Mr. Townley explaining she

BECAUSE MS. MEZZANO UNREASONABLY AND WITHOUT EXPLANATION DELAYED TAKING ANY ACTION TO ADVISE THE COURT OF HER CLAIM OF DEFICIENT SERVICE AND UNREASONABLY AND WITHOUT EXPLANATION DELAYED FILING HER MOTION TO SET ASIDE THE DEFAULT DECREE OF DIVORCE, THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED HER NRCP 60(B) MOTION.

An NRCP 60(b) motion, even a motion claiming a judgment is void for improper service, must be brought "within a reasonable time", and lack of diligence and equitable estoppel both function as bars to an NRCP 60(b)(4) motion. *Teriano v. Nev. State Bank (In re Harrison Living Tr.)*, 121 Nev. 217, 222, 112 P.3d 1058, 1061 (2005). A "want of diligence in seeking to set aside a judgment is ground enough for denial." *Union Petrochemical Corp. v. Scott*, 96 Nev. 337, 339, 609 P.2d 323, 324 (1980). "Lack of diligence is generally a factual issue for the district court's consideration." *Teriano v. Nev. State Bank (In re Harrison Living Tr.)*, 121 Nev. 217, 222, 112 P.3d 1058, 1061 (2005). Therefore,

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

Here, Ms. Mezzano, despite having actual notice of the proceeding and receiving repeated correspondence from Mr. Townley's counsel about the litigation and a coming default judgment, never apprised counsel or Mr. Townley she believed service of process was improper until after entry of judgment. (AA 143-144, 147.) Rather, her admission of service and request for attorney's fees put Mr. Townley on notice she was served and intended to participate in the case. 4 Ms. Mezzano was, therefore, estopped from challenging the validity of service.2 Moreover, Ms. Mezzano waited months to move to set aside the decree of divorce despite having all the facts on which she relied in her possession. (AA 178.) She did not act until after Mr. Townley pursued informal and then formal enforcement of the decree. She did not bother to promptly submit her motion. She offered no justification for her delay. (See, generally, AA 123-141.) There can be none, especially given Mr. Townley, through counsel, repeatedly contacting Ms. Mezzano's counsel and because the only evidence she provided with her motion was her self-serving affidavit. (AA 143-44, 147, 177.) As the trial court noted: "all the facts alleged in Ms. Mezzano's Motion to Set aside were within her

⁴ As noted above, the trial court determined this action constituted an appearance in the action. (AA 178.)

As the Court explained in *Union Petrochemicals Corp.*, "The requirements of the rule [NRCP 60(b)] are simple and direct. To condone the actions of a party who has sat on its rights only to make a last-minute rush to set aside judgment would be to turn NRCP 60(b) into a device for delay rather than the means for relief from an oppressive judgment that it was intended to be." 96 Nev. 337, 339, 609 P.2d 323, 324 (1980). Ms. Mezzano has done in that this case. Ms. Mezzano's unreasonable delay is "ground enough for denial" of her NRCP 60(b) motion. *Id.* The trial court properly denied the motion. There was no abuse of discretion.

Indeed, *Deal v. Baines*, 110 Nev. 509, 874 P.2d 775 (1994), the case cited by Ms. Mezzano about timeliness of an NRCP 60(b)(4) motion, supports Mr. Townley's position. Page 512 of *Deal v. Baines*, to which Ms. Mezzano directed this Court, contains the Court's discussion and holding that an unreasonable delay precludes relief under NRCP 60(b)(4)—at that time NRCP (b)(3).³ The entirety of page 512 reads:

Discussion

Since the district court did not state whether it based its order vacating the judgment against Baines on Rule 60(b), Rule 41(e) or a combination of the two, we consider them in turn.

Deal argues that the district court erred in vacating its prior judgment since Baines failed to file his Rule 60(b) motion in a timely manner. We agree. Motions under NRCP 60(b) are within the sound discretion of the district court, and this court will not disturb the

district court's decision absent an abuse of discretion. Carlson v. Carlson, 108 Nev. 358, 361, 832 P.2d 380, 382 (1992).

Baines argued below and asserts on appeal that he was entitled to relief pursuant to Rule 60(b)(1) because of "excusable neglect." Rule 60(b) states that a motion under subsection (b)(1) must be brought "not more than six months after judgment, order, or proceeding was entered or taken." Clearly, Baines failed to act within this time limitation since the judgment was entered in February 1990 and Baines filed his Rule 60(b) motion in September 1992.

Baines alternatively argued that he was entitled to relief pursuant to Rule 60(b)(3). He asserted that because the judgment was entered on a trial that took place beyond the five-year mandatory dismissal period of Rule 41(e), it was a void judgment.

Motions under Rule 60(b)(3) must be made within a "reasonable time." NRCP 60(b). Five years passed between the September 1987 trial and the filing of Baines' September 1992 motion. Baines argues that he did not have the opportunity to file a timely Rule 60(b) motion because he did not learn of the February 1990 judgment until he was served with an Order for Examination of Judgment Debtor in December 1990. Assuming, arguendo, that this is true, Baines fails to explain why he then waited nearly two years to file his motion to vacate the judgment.

We hold that under the circumstances of this case, it was unreasonable to wait nearly two years to file a motion under Rule 60(b)(3) to vacate a judgment. This is particularly true since Deal continued to attempt to collect on the judgment during those two years, uncovering Baines' assets and serving writs of execution and garnishment upon them. Granting Baines' motion to vacate

Deal v. Baines, 110 Nev. 509, 512, 874 P.2d 775, 777-78 (1994). The case stands for the proposition a party may not know of a judgment and then without explanation delay moving to set it aside. Here, Ms. Mezzano knew of the divorce proceeding and judgment and, without explanation, delayed moving to set it aside (in addition to her delay and inaction before entry of the default decree). Like the defendant in *Deal v. Bains*, Ms. Mezzano never explained to the trial court why she

14

15

16

17

18

A party may not accept the benefits or act inconsistently with a judgment or decree while seeking reversal of the decree on appeal. Ford v. Ford, 105 Nev. 672, 675 (1989). See also, Black v. De Black, 1 P.3d 1244, 1250-51 (Wyo. 2000); Hummel v. Roberts, 70 Nev. 225, 228-29, 265 P.2d 219, 221 (1954); Cunningham

v. Cunningham, 60 Nev. 192, 197 (1940); Gerbig v. Gerbig, 60 Nev. 292, 294-96,

¹⁹ ⁵ Ms. Mezzano directs the Court to page 512 for the proposition there is a two-year statute of limitations for an independent action to set aside a default judgment. (App Opening Brief 11:5.) The case does not mention a statute of limitations and 20 did not concern an independent action.

RESPONSES TO POINTS IN MS. MEZZANO'S BRIEF.

15

16

17

18

19

20

A. Ms. Mezzano's Continued Reliance on Quinlan v. Camden U.S.A. Is Misplaced; The Case Concerned An Offer Of Judgment Rule Creating A Claim That Did Not Exist Under The Common Law Thereby Imposing A Strict Compliance Standard; Quinlan Is Not Applicable To This Case.

Ms. Mezzano's assertion in her brief that a Nevada case dealing with service of an offer of judgment by facsimile controls this matter is wrong. First. *Quinlan v.*

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

this case.

B. A Policy in Favor of Resolving Cases on Their Merits is not License for A Litigant To Attempt To Exploit The Rules Of Civil Procedure Or Frustrate The Judicial Process In Contravention Of The Directive In NRCP 1 The Rules Should Be Interpreted "To Secure The Just, Speedy, And Inexpensive Determination Of Every Action And Proceeding."

Ms. Mezzano acknowledged service of process and then sat on her hands and ignored the proceedings through entry of judgment. (See history recounted above in the Statement of Facts.) Even after hiring a lawyer, she did not pursue her claim for NRCP 60(b) relief for months. (Id.) Having frustrated the judicial process, she claims she should have been given her day in court, an opportunity she willingly forewent. In these circumstances, the trial court has broad discretion

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